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Black Boy Cottage, West Wycombe Village

Historic Building Investigation and Recording

1 INTRODUCTION

11
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122

121

122

1.2.3

124

Background

Oxford Archaeology (OA) have been commissioned by The National Trust to carry out
historic buildings recording and archaeological investigation during conservation works
to a number of properties within the village of West Wycombe, Buckinghamshire. The
work relates to a programme of on-going refurbishment works (detailed further below)
and the current report covers the recording of Black Boy Cottage located in the rear
courtyard of the former Black Boy Public House. The National Trust HBSMR event
number for this work is ENA7414 and the site number is 154694. The National Trust
HBSMR event number for the dendrochronological dating is ENA7423.

Wider background to the West Wycombe project

The current work forms part of a wider project to refurbish the tenanted National Trust
buildings within West Wycombe village and it is being carried out in a number of stages
between 2012-2015.

The main works in the current programme include:
¢ Re-roofing and insertion of insulation
e Upgrades of services
e Upgrades of bathrooms and kitchen facilities
e Repairsto gutters

The National Trust owns ¢c50 tenanted buildings in the village and ¢23 of these are listed.
Steps House isa Grade |1* listed building while the others are listed at Grade 1.

The village forms a collection of vernacular buildings from a range of dates and with
various historical functions and the current project provides a rare opportunity to
undertake a single overarching study of a settlement such as this. The investigation of
this group will particularly alow the easy comparison of constructional techniques
between buildings to identify similarities between structures of different ages as well as
highlighting evidence to show how constructional techniques or structural design in this
area has evolved over time.

In September 2012 Gary Marshall (National Trust Archaeologist London and South East)
issued a brief for the recording project and in October OA responded with a Proposal for
Building Investigation and Recording.

Vernacular Building Surveys were undertaken on many of the buildings in the early
1990s and these provide much valuable information on the history of the structures and
evolution of the village. The current recording work utilises existing plans and research
undertaken by the Vernacular Buildings Survey in April 1993. The VBS report, which is
included here as Appendix B, should also be read in conjunction with the current report.
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This document forms a stand-alone report on the investigation of Black Boy Cottage and
ultimately similar reports will be issued on the other buildings investigated at West
Wycombe. The information contained in all these reports will then be distilled into a
wider context study which will discuss the overall development of the village and
highlight common themes or features between buildings.

The recording at Black Boy Cottage focused purely on the roof structure following
removal of the roof tiles and prior to the insertion of insulation. This report is intended to
complement the Vernacular Building Survey rather than to replace it and it focuses
particularly on the areas exposed. The VBS is reproduced here as an appendix while the
main body of the current report discusses the areas recently exposed and assesses how
this affects the previous understanding of the building.

M ethodology

The work comprised three principal elements. a photographic, a drawn and a written
survey.

The photographic survey consisted of both general photographs and specific details and
was undertaken using 35mm black and white print film and digital photographs were
taken using an 8 megapixel camera.

The drawn survey consisted of a measured survey of the elements of the roof as they
were exposed.

The written survey consisted of notes and annotations that complemented the
photographic and drawn surveys and added further analytical and descriptive detail.

The site work for the recording of Black Boy Cottage was undertaken in three phases
between 22 May 2014 and 2 June 2014; each area of the roof which was uncovered was
recorded as detailed above and immediately insulated and covered by the roofing
contractors before the next area was stripped.

The northern-facing slope (the front of the house) was used to showcase the insulation
method for the Green Open Homes Network event on 30" May 2014 and so an areato the
western end was left tiled for the event and stripped and recorded on 2™ June 2014.

The roofs of the twentieth-century extensions, although being re-covered, were not
recorded in the scope of this work.

On 21* July 2014, Dan Miles of the Oxford Dendrochronology L aboratory took four core
samples for dendrochronological dating, the outcome of which is discussed in Section 3.

Historical Background to West Wycombe Village

West Wycombe isasmall historic village which isjust detached from the modern western
boundary of the much larger town of High Wycombe (Fig 1). Archaeological
investigations have provided evidence of continuous occupation in the general vicinity
since the Bronze Age, particularly on West Wycombe Hill and the area where St
Lawrence's Church now stands.
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In the first half of the 18th century West Wycombe Park and country house was laid out
by Sir Francis Dashwood to the south of the village.

The current buildings in the village are believed to largely date from the early 16th
century to the later 19th and they formed part of the Dashwood’s estate. The village was
located on the main road between London and Oxford and records show there were a
large number of inns which prospered on the coaching trade.

By the early decades of the 20th century the buildings of the village had fallen into a state
of considerable disrepair and in 1929 the village estate was purchased from the
Dashwood Family by the Royal Society of Arts (RSA). The RSA undertook a programme
of refurbishment under their Campaign for the Preservation of Ancient Cottages, a
remarkable but little known campaign established in 1926 to protect cottage architecture
by establishing a fund which purchased or restored cottages. (RSA ref: PR.EN/100).
Documents relating to this purchase and refurbishment are held at the RSA Archives in
London and this may be an avenue of valuable research in the current project.

In 1934, following the RSA refurbishment, the buildings were donated to the National
Trust and they remain as a tenanted estate today.

Black Boy Cottage

More detailed historical research into Black Boy Cottage, as well as the village more
generally, will be undertaken in due course as part of the current project and the findings
will be incorporated into the final report on all the buildings. The sources contained
within the Vernacular Buildings Survey (VBS) of April 1993 have been drawn upon.

Black Boy Cottage was originally constructed as a coach-house to the rear of what was a
coaching inn called both 'The Unicorn Inn' and The Black Boy and Unicorn' in
documents from 1767, and by 1808 'The Black Boy'. When the RSA acquired the estate,
the Inn's licence was relinquished and the coach-house converted to domestic use.

The building does not appear on the map of 1767, however, no outbuildings are shown on
this map and the description written on the plot states “The Unicorn Inn with stables,
yard etc.” as does the description for The George Inn and The White Heart [as spelled]
nearby and so it is feasible that the coach-house was standing by this point (Fig 2).

The building has been very much altered; the listing details do not attempt to state the
age other than to say it is eighteenth-century and the VBS report contradicts itself, stating
that the coach-house was constructed in the early-eighteenth century on the summary
sheet, whilst stating late-eighteenth century in the structural development text. The
window to the right of the front door is a re-used early eighteenth-century sash window,
although this domestic feature would have been recycled, presumably from another
building in the village, during the RSA works to convert the coach-house to domestic use
asitisset within an area of later alteration and infilling.

The building was constructed from a fair amount of re-used material, certainly in the case
of the roof timbers, and most of the elements of the building have since undergone
numerous alterations and repairs, again using reclaimed material, the chamfered and
stopped beam in the living room, for example, is not something expected in a coach-
house, and so more precise dating is difficult.
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Black Boy Cottage was given listed building status in January 1954, titled 'Cottage in
yard of Premises formerly the Black Boy Public House' and later changed to 'Black Boy
Cottage'.

A map-regression through the 25 inch Ordnance Survey maps indicates the demolition of
the extension to the rear of the property by 1921, as detailed in the VBS report which
surmises this could have been a bothy associated with the addition of the chimney in the
late-nineteenth century (Figs 3 & 4).

The plan of the Black Boy Inn in 1932, included in the VBS as Appendix 8, shows the
building was still referred to as a coach-house at the time the licence was relinquished.

During the mid-twentieth century a one and a half storey brick-built extension was added
to the east of the building.

2 DEscripPTION

21
211

2.1.2

213

214

215

2.1.6

Summary description of overall building from VBS

To summarise the description of the VBS report (here in Appendix B in full): The
building is a rectangular two-storey main block [although the first floor is little over a
half-storey] with a one-and-a-half-storey wing to the east, projecting beyond the main
block to the rear. A single-storey lean-to is against the west elevation with a single-storey
block joining the south of the lean-to.

The main block is of brick, with the remaining original brickwork in Flemish bond with
vitrified headers to the front elevation. Much of the brickwork in al elevations is later
infilling and alteration, with the side elevations being mainly of flint. In the front
elevation, the wide carriage entrance has been infilled, with further infilled areas and
insertions of later features being apparent in al elevations. A projecting brick string
course extends around the building at storey height with an additional projecting string
course above eaves height to each gable.

The roof of the main block is plain-tiled, with ceramic ridge tiles. Two gabled dormers
are to the rear elevation asis abrick chimney stack.

The front door is set within the area of infill of the carriage entrance under a flat brick
head. The adjacent window, a reused early-eighteenth-century sash, is below a shallow
brick arch. The other openings have lintels consisting of several courses of tiles laid flat
on top of one another.

S-shaped tie-plates are in the front and rear elevations; cross-shaped tie-plates are in the
apex of the gables.

The analysis of the VBS report is further discussed in the conclusion and the whole of the
VBS isreproduced in Appendix B of this report.
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2.2.6

Roof investigations

The current recording work at Black Boy Cottage focussed entirely on the roof structure
and this work has not included any investigation of the building's interior or other
exterior features, although the interior was inspected for exposed elements of the roof
structure and these timbers taken into account. The roof structure was examined from the
scaffolding platform outside the building (PI. 1).

Although the majority of the rafters appear to be original, most of the other elements of
the roof appear to have been constructed from reused timber, and the builders and later
repairers have concentrated their efforts for this small utility building on the best use of
available materials. Although obviously not intended to be on display, the front, northern,
slope contains the 'best' timber: the straighter purlins and rafters and ostensibly fewer
reused timbers (Fig 5).

The roof consists of 16 pairs of common rafters, with a pair of principal rafters to the
centre of the roof and a pair to each gable end, with two purlins to each slope (PI. 2). The
tie beams to either end of the building are visible in the bedroom walls, cutting across the
casement windows, with the central tie beam cutting across the stairwell and landing,
exposing the cranked principal at the northern end (Pl. 3); the same at the southern end
barely visible against the chimney stack via the stripped roof. These trusses also have a
low collar at the level of the lower purlin (Pl. 4). The collar to the central truss contains
two empty mortices which do not correspond with the principal rafters, indicating further
reused timber. On the landing, the central tie beam displays two shallow, and fairly
doubtful, remnants of lap joints which may indicate previous use, or more likely, a
former fixture.

The aforementioned cranked principal rafter is a similar feature to the curved principal
rafter in the roof truss of 32-33 Crown Court, also re-roofed within this programme of
works. Although the truss was pictured in the VBS for Black Boy Cottage, the feature
was not discussed in that report.

As discussed within the 32-33 Crown Court report, the cranked/curved principa is
characteristic of (although by no means exclusive to) the area of South Oxfordshire,
Buckinghamshire and Berkshire, used for approximately a century either side of the
construction of this building, and most often utilised in agricultural buildings. Of the
theories mooted for the use of the cranked principal, the creation of circulation space in
the loft area is the most likely in relation to this particular building, although the floor
inserted during the RSA's conversion has since rendered it redundant.

There is no ridge piece in the roof. The rafters are bridle-jointed at the apex and
occasiona pairs are also pegged, however, many joints have been reinforced by later
timber and so the jointing method is often obscured or has rotted away. Thin collars were
aso fixed near to the apex during later works (PI. 5). The common rafters are interrupted
by the lower purlin, after which they continue to the wall plate where at least two phases
of sprockets have previously created the eaves. The ends of the rafters have long-since
rotted and been cut back to wall plate level; they are completely obscured in the south
slope, however, the ends visible in the north slope indicate that they were notched over
the wallplate in the same manner as the previous sprockets and the new sprockets. The
wallplate does not appear to have been cut at all to receive the rafters (Pl. 6).
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2.2.7

2.2.8

2.2.9

2.2.10

2211

2.2.12

2.2.13

2.2.14

2.2.15

Many of the rafters have later thin strips of timber batten packing attached to their backs,
and so the original method of jointing to the purlin is completely obscured. Occasional
visible areas at the lower purlins indicate that they are mortice and tenonned and pegged;
empty mortices are also visible in the soffit face of the lower purlin behind the dormer
windows where the lower sections of the rafters have been removed (PI. 7).

The rafters to the western end of the south slope have been heavily packed-out by adding
bespoke shaped timbers to the backs [the upper-face] to counteract sag. Presumably, this
packing was affixed during the RSA works (PI. 8).

The mgjority of the rafters, although much patched-up, appear to have been new when
the roof was constructed; any redundant notches etc. appear to have been made to join to,
or alow for, other members which have since been replaced. The rafters to the western
end of the north slope display several peg holes and notches which do not tie in with the
current form of the roof and so these may be the exception and are reused. Two pieces of
reused timber have been used to replace lower parts of the rafters either side of the
westernmost dormer (Pl. 9).

Several of the rafters are of split logs, many of which retain the waney edge to the
underside. Six rafters to the eastern end of the southern side display the same distinctive
's' shape towards the top, indicating that they have been cut from the same piece of wood,
although the differing thicknesses and shape to the underside make it difficult to deduce
the shape of the original tree (PI. 10).

The rafters are laid mainly horizontally but occasionally vertically, according to their
shape, with widths between 70-100mm for the original timbers and 50mm for the 1930s
additions. The depth varies greatly, from areas of only 40mm to an estimated depth of
150mm for upper areas of the aforementioned 's' shaped timbers. This lack of uniformity
is due to the nature of manufacture of these timbers, being split or sawn directly from
logs too narrow or uneven to be used in other areas.

The iron bar connected to the cross-shaped straps in the gables is visible just above the
level of the upper purlin (PI. 11).

The wall plates are laid directly onto the brick walls and abut the principal rafters at
either end.

The ends of the purlins are built into the gables and the ends of the timbers exposed.

The upper purlins, although nominally through purlins, are made up from several pieces
of timber, jointed with rough scarfs, peg holes are visible within the scarf joints, but it is
not clear if these originate from a former use of the timber as they contain numerous
empty mortices (PI. 12). In the western end of the north slope, the original purlin has
apparently rotted away towards the centre and a new purlin fitted, however, the remnants
of the original how hang from the end built into the gable and long pegs, with the other
end still in the rafters, project from the timber (Pl. 13). The western purlin on the
opposite slope is also heavily rotted, but still remains in place and also shows an empty
mortice from the timber's previous use. To the upper purlin in the south slope, the
easternmost piece, scarfed to the next, also shows empty mortices from a previous use
(Pl. 14).
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2.2.17

2.2.18

2.2.19

2.2.20
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2.2.22

2.2.23

2.2.24

The lower purlin at the westernmost end of the rear slope has a stave slot to the now-top
face, this would have held the staves in a wattle and daub panel in a wall frame in it's
previous use (Pl. 15). The empty mortices and peg holes indicate the location of the posts
in this former usage.

In the northern slope, the lower purlin and the replacement upper purlin do not appear to
be reused, as is the case for the lower eastern purlin to the southern slope. The latter
consists of afairly misshapen length of timber: another indication that the ‘front' face of
the building received the better pieces of timber than the rear, despite not being on

display.

The same purlin which includes the stave slot also has the tail of a lap dovetail joint to
the soffit face of the easternmost end, adjacent to the principal rafter (Pl. 16); a socket of
alap dovetail joint isincluded in the lower purlin at the easternmost end of the northern
slope, partially obscured by the principal rafter at the gable. These appear to be of
different sizes and so may not berelated (Pl. 17).

Windbracing appears to have been alater consideration and consists of one piece of scrap
timber nailed to the underside of the rafters in the eastern end of the north slope and two
similar braces to either end of the southern slope (PI. 18).

Several pieces of timber, appearing to be of different phases of work, have been added at
varying angles to attempt to brace the upper purlins against each other and prevent them
from bowing inwards under the weight of the roof (PI. 19).

Carpenter's marks are visible on the lower timbers of both slopes. The marks on the lower
westernmost purlin in the south slope are not reflected on the surrounding timbers and so
can be assumed to be from it's former use, however, they do not seem to correlate with
each other, hinting that the timber may have been used more than once prior to this (Fig
6, PI. 20).

The carpenter's marks to the north slope consecutively number aternate sets of timbers
from west to east below the lower purlin. The rafters above the lower purlin, however,
have a less consistent system of marking which may point to more widespread recycling
than the timbers indicate, however, this top face of the timber is heavily degraded in
many places and is also obscured by the aforementioned battening or packing, and so the
visible marks may well beincomplete (Fig 7, PI. 21).

The dormer windows were installed during the RSA works and consist of softwood
frames matching the timber used in the roof repairs and the construction of the first floor
ceilings (PI. 22).

The roof has been recovered since the RSA works, probably around the 1980s. A quantity
of straw in the roof space may represent the straw insulation used before the introduction
of modern materials.
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3 Concrusion AND SumMARY oOF PHASING

3.1.1  The current project has helped to confirm and clarify the existing understanding of this
building which had been largely based on the Vernacular Building Survey.

Report on Building Investigation

3.1.2  Four core samples were taken for dendrochronological dating; three from the principal
rafters and a further sample from a common rafter (Fig 8), however, no consistent result
could be obtained which would provide afelling date.

3.1.3 The table below summarises the phasing outlined in the VBS together with some
comments from the current project.

Phasing previously proposed by VBS

Phase Date Detail from VBS Comments from current
investigation
1 Early-eighteenth Coach-house first built to Thelisting details do not attempt to
century [on the serve the coaching inn date the coach-house to anything
Summary Sheet] narrower than 'eighteenth-century’;
or the VBS contradicts itself by stating
L ate-eighteenth each end of that century on different
century [in Structural pages of the report.
Development]
The reuse of materials and the
utility nature of the building, which
has since lost the majority of its
original features which may have
aided dating, makesit difficult to
suggest a more accurate date.
None of the maps used within the
scope of this project aid dating due
to the out-building status of the
coach-house and so further
documentary research may be
considered to enable a narrower
date range to be found.
2 Mid-nineteenth L -shaped extension to the No evidence found to doubt the
century south east corner VBS interpretation
3 L ate-nineteenth Insertion of achimney stack  No evidence found to doubt the
century towards the rear of the VBS interpretation
building
4 Early-twentieth Demolition of the rear No evidence found to doubt the
century extension VBS interpretation
5 1932-1934 RSA works: conversion to No evidence found to doubt the
domestic use including VBS interpretation
blocking carriage entrance and
dteration of most, if not all,
openings and removal of all

© Oxford Archaeology
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fixtures
6 Mid-twentieth Extension constructed tothe  No evidence found to doubt the
century east of the main block VBS interpretation

3.1.4  There are some common features in Black Boy Cottage which have been noted el sewhere
at West Wycombe including the use of rudimentary windbraces, dormer windows added
in the 1930s works, lengths of timber packing pieces added on top of rafters to re-profile
the roof line and cranked principal rafters. The re-used early-eighteenth-century sash
window is an intriguing hint to the other works in the village from where, presumably,
the window was recycled.

AngelaWarner
July 2014

Bibliography
Clark D 'Cranked Inner Principals Vernacular Architecture Vol 35 (2004)

© Oxford Archaeology Page 9 of 11 August 2014



Black Boy Cottage West Wycombe Village Report on Building Investigation

AprPeENDIX A. Listep BuiLbing DescripTION

Name: BLACK BOY COTTAGE
List entry Number: 1125170

Location
BLACK BOY COTTAGE, HIGH STREET

Grade: |l
Datefirst listed: 09-Jan-1954

(Formerly listed as “ Cottage in yard of Premises formerly the Black Boy Public House”)

List entry Description

HIGH STREET 1. 963 (South Side) WEST WY COMBE Black Boy Cottage (Formerly listed as
Cottage in yard of Premises formerly the Black Boy Public House) SU 8294 9/332 9.1.54. |1 GV

2.

C18, much restored. Red brick, old tiled roof. 2 storeys, ground floor double hung sash window,
1st floor casement, both flush set with glazing bars. Modern door and left hand single storey 1
window wing. Graded Il for group value.

Outbuildings adjoining No 2 on West, Nos 2 to 5 (consec), Nos 7 to 9 (consec), The Swan Public

House, West Wycombe Branch County Library, Nos 10 to 13 (consec), No 15, Black Boy Cottage,
The George and Dragon Inn and Nos 16 to 23 (consec) form a group.

Listing NGR: SU8294094629
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AprPENDIX B. VERNACULAR BuiLDING SURVEY FOR BrLack Boy CoTtacE
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This report concentrates on features considered to be of particular
importance with regard to the history of the building or its future
management. Some modern features such as replacement doors or windows
may not have been described in full.

It is possible that other historic details obscured or inaccessible
at the time of the survey may come to light, particularly during
building works, and the report will then need to be updated or amended.

Consultation with the Vernacular Buildings Survey team would be most
valuable prior to any repair work or alterations so that arrangements
could be made for any necessary further recording.

Listed Buildings There are three grades.

Grade 1 - buildings of exceptional interest.

Grade IT* - particularly important buildings of more than special interest.
Grade II - buildings of special interest which warrant every effort

being made to preserve them.

Listed Building Consent from the Local Planning Department is required
for any proposal to demolish, extend or alter a listed building in any
way that affects its character.

A building's character is easily marred by minor but inappropriate alterationc
Details such as the materials and techniques used in repointing or rendering,
the arrangement and design of doors and windows and internally the surface
treatment of walls and timberwork are all critical.

Many other features contribute to the understanding and value of historic
buildings and the survival of an early plan in particular should be respected.

List of Listed Buildings of Special Architectural or Historical Interest.
As at January 1954. See page over leaf.




963 HIGH SIREET

(Scuth Side)
WEST WYCOMBE
Black Boy Cottage
(Formerly listed as
Ccitage in yard of
Premises formerly the
Blacik Boy Public House)

SuU 8294 9/332 9.1.54.,
II GV
2,

Cl8, much restored. Red brick, old tiled roof. 2 storeys, ground floor
double hung sash window, lst floor casement, both flush set with glazing
bars. Modern door and left hand 51ngle storey 1 window wing. Graded I

for group value.

Outbuildings adjoining No 2 on West, Nos 2 to 5 (ccnsec), Nos 7 to @ (consec),
The Swan Putlic Hous=, West \Wyeoambe Brzoch Corniy Litrecy, bos L0 Lo lfg _

e e e o el e —

ippnsec} No 15, bBlack Boy Cottasge, Tne Georeze and Dragon inn and HNos
to 25 .lconsec) form a ercup.




Estate County Name Grid Ref.
West Wycombe Buckinghamshire Black Boy Cottage SU 829 946

Listed Grade

II

Archaeology survey
Number

153 253

Survey Date

April 1993

Surveyor
H.E. Garside
G. Izzard

Situation Stands within the yard to the rear of the Black Boy which was formerly a
coaching inn. Forms the southern boundary of the yard, the other three sides of
which are also delineated by buildings. Garden, to rear, backs onto West Wycombe Park

Likely Date
Early 18thC, converted 20thC.

Historical Value copstructed as a coach-house during the early 18thC to serve a
coaching inn, known as the 'Unicorn' later called the 'Black Boy'. Converted to
domestic use during the 1930's after the licence of the Inn was relinquished.

Other Sources
see other list of appendices

Pooms and Facilities
Ground Floor First Floor

Room A - lounge-dining room Rooms I,K,L and M - bedrooms

- entrance lobby J - landing

- toilet N - attic store
~ lobby

pantry

- living room

- kitchen

- bathroom

Wash-house and shed - store
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STRUCTURAL DEVELOPMENT

Black Boy Cottage was originally constructed as a coach-house during the late

18thC. It was built to serve the coaching inn known as both 'The Unicorn' and
'The Black Boy and Unicorn' in 1767 (see Appendix 1 and 4) later called 'The
Black Boy'.

The coach-house was positioned towards the rear of the yard behind the inn. It
comprised the existing main block and was built of brick in flemish bond
incorporating blue, glazed headers, there were slightly projecting brick string
courses and plinth. The gabled roof had a plain tile covering. There were
probably no internal partitions.

There was originally a large coach entrance in the centre of the yard elevation.
The two internal, transverse wooden beams indicate the approximate original width of
the coach-house. There was also a smaller opening to the east of the coach

entrance which was probably a door opening. There was also an opening in the

east end of the rear elevation, probably a doorway, this was later partially
infilled to create a window opening and finally altered to its present form when
the structure was converted to domestic use. There is also an infilled window
opening in the east gable which 1lit a loft floor which probably provided

accommodation for stable lads. The loft floor may have continued across the
entire building and would then have been interrupted by the central truss.

The 1876 map shows an L-shape extension enveloping the south-east corner of the
main block. The form and function of this extension is unknown. The part of the
extension which was constructed against the rear of the building was demolished
prior to 1921.

A stack was inserted towards the rear of the main block, probably during the late
19thC. This may have served a bothy created in part of the rear of the building
and maybe associated with the extension built to the rear and east of the building.

The structure was recorded by William Wier as a coach-house on his plans of the
Black Boy Inn, 1932. The coach-house is shown as the rectangular main block only,
the addition to the east having been demolished by this time.

The inn was acquired by the Royal Society of Arts in 1932 and the licence was
relinquished. Following this the coach-house was converted to domestic use. The
openings within the front elevation were infilled. A new door was created

towards the centre of the elevation, this opened into a small entrance passage.
Towards the west end of the elevation the wall was rebuilt and a window opening, Al,
inserted re-using an early 18thC sash window. All the external walls have been
considerably altered with original openings being infilled, new ones created, and
sections of walling being repaired. The existing walling is therefore a mixture

of different brick types and flint.

Internally the ground floor was divided to provide three rooms all accessed from
the central entrance hall. The stairs were inserted towards the front of the

building, these led onto a small first floor landing. The existing arrangement of
bedrooms was probably created at this time.

The wash-house and privy block, constructed towards the west, is probably
contemporary with the conversion to domestic use. This was a weather-boarded
structure on a brick plinth. The copper was positioned in the north-west corner,
served by the stack which remains today.

During the mid-20thC the addition to the east was built. This comprised a kitchen



and bathroom on the ground floor with a storage loft above. A toilet
(room C) was created on the ground floor of the main block by the division
of an existing room.



BUILDING DESCRIPTION

EXTERNAL APPEARANCE

Plan/Form

Rectangular, 2-storey main block, upper storey contained partially within roof

space.

13-storey wing adjoins east elevation and projects beyond main block towards

Tear.

Single-storey lean-to against west elevation with single-storey block adjoining

south of lean-to.

Walling

Main Block: front elevation

west elevation

rear elevation

east elevation

East Wing: all elevations
Western lean-to and shed

brick. Original brickwork is in flemish bond with
blue glazed headers. Section of walling towards west
end has been rebuilt. Brick differs from original,
also in flemish bond, no glazed headers. Large
carriage entrance towards centre has been infilled

in slender brick in random bond.

slightly projecting brick string course at storey
height.

projecting brick plinth.

flint with brick quoins. Brick quoins towards front
are later. Projecting brick string course at storey
height and at eaves level. Projecting brick plinth.
Brick courses above inserted window openings.
Original brick in apex of gable.

mixture of flint and brick. Ground floor walling is
mostly brick incorporating areas of infilling and
patching-up; area around western window is flint.
Slightly projecting plinth, brick towards east end,
flint beyond with brick plinth course.

Flint to first floor level with brick quoins.
Projecting brick string course at storey-level.
ground floor level mostly brick in flemish bond with
areas of modern brick around inserted openings. Slightl
projecting brick plinth with brick plinth course.
Brick quoins.

Flint to first floor level with brick quoins. Modern
brick around inserted opening. Original brickwork in
apex of gable. Slightly projecting brick string course
at eaves level, small section raised towards centre,
probable drip mould over earlier opening. Areas of
brick infilling towards centre of elevation, above and
below string course.

modern brick in stretcher bond.

wash-house has weatherboarded stud walling, lined out
internally.

remainder is weatherboarded and lined internally with
breeze block.



Roof

Main block - gabled, sprocketed at eaves towards rear. Plain tile
covering with circular-section ceramic ridge tiles.

- two gabled dormers towards rear, across line of eaves.
Covering as main roof. Rendered cheeks and gables.

East Wing - gabled. Modern plain tiles. Circular section
ceramic ridge tiles.
Western lean-to and shed - small gable roof over shed. Lean-to and shed have

plain tile covering. Gable has circular section ceramic
ridge tiles.

Chimneys
Main block - large internal stack towards centre of house, avoids ridge. Comprises
two flues. Brick with oversailing courses towards top.
East wing - modern stainless steel chimney.
West wing - internal side wall stack, brick with oversailing courses towards
top.
nings

door has a flat brick head, brick jambs. Ground

floor window set below shallow brick arch, brick jambs
and wooden cill. First floor opening has surround as
walling, tile cill.

Main block: front elevation

all other

elevations - lintels comprise ceramic tiles laid flat, on top of one
another. Brick jambs. Wooden cill.

shallow brick arch, brick jambs, wooden cills.

East wing: all elevations
West lean-to and shed: all

elevations - set within weatherboarding.
Miscellaneous
Main block - S-shape tie-plates in front and rear elevations.

- large cross-shape tie-plates in apex of each gable wall.
Garden features- well to south of east wing concealed below large concrete slabs.



INTERNAL FEATURES

Floors
Rooms A,B,C,D,E,G and H

F and all to first floor
Wash-house and shed

Ceilings

Room A

B,G and H
C,E and F
D

wash-house
shed
I

Partitions

Ground floor
First floor

Room K

Stairs

large, square, modern red quarry tiles.
wooden floorboards
concrete.

large, possibly original transverse wooden beam.

Plain chamfered with notched run out stop towards front
of building. Regular pegholes along each side of the
soffit face. Large metal tie-strap each end of beam.

- plain plastered.
~ transverse wooden beam, as A.

two sections of ceiling at different heights. Upper
level is plain plastered, lower level is boarded.

roof lined-out with plasterboard.

common rafter roof.

plain plastered. Slender tie-beam exposed in west wall,
cuts across inserted window opening. The outer face
of the tie-beam shows possible signs of weathering.
Large metal tie-strap towards front of building.

base of truss exposed. Principal rafter is morticed and
tenoned into the tie-beam and probably into the soffit
of a collar which is above ceiling level, and
inaccessible. The tie-beam is possibly re-used.

as 1.

plain plastered. Tie-beam exposed in west wall, large
metal tie-strap towards rear of building. Section of
tie-beam is also exposed to north of stack in

internal transverse wall.

plain plastered. Tie-beamsexposed within partitions
between rooms L-M and M-N. Large metal tie-straps
towards rear.

roof lined-out with felt. Single diagonally-set
purlin each side of the roof.

probably all brick partitions.

probably all hollow-core partitions. Some vertical
wooden boards around stairs and room J.

slightly projecting brick pilaster in wall towards front
of building.

1/4 turn with winders leads onto long straight run onto 1/2 landing which separates

bifurcated flight leading to

first floor level.



Fireplaces

Room A - square fire-opening, brick to back and sides. Narrow wooden lintel.
Large, square red quarry tiles to hearth.
F - modern brick fire-surround. Wooden mantel shelf.
Doors

Rooms Al,A4,B1,N, M2,
wash-house and shed
A2 and C - standard hollow-core doors.
A3,F1,F,I,J and M1 19thC plank and batten doors. Decorative metal thumb
latch with arrow-headed back plates. Modern hinges.

modern plank and batten doors.

B2 - modern 2-panelled door. Upper panel is glazed, lower
panel is plain and recessed.

E2 - standard hollow-core cupboard doors. Two early 20thC
panelled cupboard doors above. Single beaded panel to
each door.

H - modern 4-panelled door. Panels recessed and moulded.

L - modern plank and batten door. Re-used spoon-ended
cross-garnet hinges.

Windows

Room Al - re-used early 18thC single-hung sash window. Eight glas
panes per sash. Heavy section ovolo moulded glazing
bars.

A2,A3,F,G1,I,K,L and M - modern double-lights. Two side-hung casements, squared
mullion. Six glass panes with moulded glazing bars.

C,wash-house and N - modern single-light. Side-hung casement. Four glass
panes with moulded glazing bars.
E - modern fixed-light with side-hung casement above.

Fixed-light has four glass panes, casement has two
glass panes. Slender moulded glazing bars.

G2 and H - modern double-light. One fixed-light, one side-hung
casement, beaded mullion. Six glass panes to each light
thick moulded glazing bars.

J - modern stair-light. Single fixed-light. Four glass
panes with moulded glazing bars.

Miscellaneous

Room C - within wall towards front of building wooden lintel of earlier
opening visible.



APPENDIX 1
APPENDIX 2
APPENDIX 3
APPENDIX 4
APPENDIX 5
APPENDIX 6
APPENDIX 7
APPENDIX 8

APPENDIX 9

APPENDICES - CONTENTS

Manorial Surrender 1767. Bucks R.O. Daslwood Catalogue,
D/D/11/92

Leases of Black Boy Inn 1808-1842. Bucks R.0. Dashwood Catalogue
D/D/6/187; D/D/6/188; D/D/6/190.

Copy of photograph of Black Boy Cottage, 1978. Phgr. unknown.
Photographic copy in Blue Photo Album, Hughenden Manor, Bucks.
A plan of West Wycombe Town, 1767. -Bucks R.0. Mar 36/4

Survey of West Wycombe Park, surveyed by Richardson, 1767.

1st Edition 1:2,500 0O.S. map, surveyed 1876.

1921 Edition 1:2,500 O.S. map

Plan of Black Boy Inn, as existing 1932. By William Wier.
Scale 1/8 inch to 1 foot. Copy at Hughenden Manor, Bucks.
Plans and elevations of Black Boy Cottage 1981, as existing and
proposed alterations to lean-to shed to provide garage.

No scale. Copies at Hughenden Manor, Bucks.



APPENDIX 1 - Manorial Surrender - 1767

Researched at Bucks R.0. by Mrs. Mary Everett.

Dashwood Catalogue D/D/11/92

Manorial Surrender - 'Black Boy and Unicorn'
by Susanna Clarke, widow of Chepping Wycombe, Relict of John Clarke, Apothecary.

Surrender of 'The Black Boy and Unicorn', formerly occupied by Richard Godfrey
now by Thomas Reading, to Francis, Lord le Despencer.



APPENDIX 2 - Leases re. Black Boy Inn 1808-1842

Researched at Bucks R.0. by Mrs. Mary Everett

Dashwood Catalogue D/D/6/187

Lease Black Boy and Swan 9.11.1808
From Sir J. Dashwood King of Halton

To John Rotton of Chepping Wycombe Esq.
Black Boy is occupied by William Morris
Swan is occupied by Mary Hedding.

Dashwood Catalogue D/D/6/188

Lease George, Black Boy, Swan 19.12.1828

From Sir J. Dashwood King

To Robert Wheeler, Common Brewer

George Inn, occupied by John Broom. Brooms Meadow 6 acres.
Black Boy, occupied by Peter Scotland

The Swan occupied by ? Heading

21 years £105 p.a.

Dashwood Catalogue D/D/6/190

Copy lease 2.9.1842 Property as in D/D/6/188

From Sir J. Dashwood King

To Robert Wheeler Elder )
Robert Wheeler Younger ) Brewers and partners
Thomas Wheeler )



Appendix 3 - Black Boy Cottage, 1978. Phgr. unknown. Photographic copy in Blue Photo Album,
Hughenden Manor, Bucks.
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APPENDIX 5. Survey of West Wycombe Park, Surveyed by Richardson, 1767.
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APPENDIX 9.
BLACK BOY COTTAGE, BLACK BOY YARD, WEST WYCOMBE VILLAGE. EXISTING BUILDING.
Richard Slee,March 1981. Contd on following 5 pages....
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APPENDIX 9 Contd.
BLACK BOY COTTAGE, BLACK BOY YARD, WEST WYCOMBE VILIAGE.
PROPOSED ALTERATIONS TO LEAN-TO SHED TO PROVIDE GARAGE.

Richard Slee, 1981. Copies at Hughenden Manor, Bucks.
Contd. on following 4 pages...
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Figure 1: Site location
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Figure 2: Extract from A Plan of West Wycombe Town (1767)
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Figure 3: Extract from 1876 first edition OS map
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ycombe*MD*01.07.14

invoice_codes_r-z*WWBSBS*West W

oxford

>

\ - : [ﬂ J —
.
éJ Z Z- \i ]
SLIE
—

Location indicated by arrow

N2

1:20 et Mark degraded and uncertain

Figure 7: Carpenter's Marks on the North Slope (marks are illustrative of location and not to scale)



ycombe*MD*01.07.14

4 invoice_codes_r-z*WWBSBS*West W\

>

oxford

0 im
1:25
I ;
N

original to 18th Century build

—
T\
1\

N
o

Reused timber
1932-1934 RSA works

¢1980s repairs

undated repairs

BE0ROE0

Brickwork

@ Dendrochronology sample location

Figure 8: Location of samples taken
for dendrochronological dating




*WWBSBS*West Wycombe*MD*01.07.14

invoice_codes_r-z

Plate 2: North slope of roof with unstripped area to the west
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Plate 3: Cranked principal of the central truss seen from the landing

Plate 4: Collar and cranked principal of central truss (courtesy of Gary Marshall)




'ycombe*MD*01.07.14

D
]
2
1]
Jis]
0
o
§
N
<
1)
o]
°
Q
o
©
L
S
>
£

Plate 6: Rafter ends, wall plate and sprockets
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Plate 7: Empty mortice behind easternmost dormer

Plate 8: Packing to rafters on the south slope
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Plate 10: ‘'S’ shaped rafters
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Plate 12: Scarf of north slope upper purlin (courtesy of Gary Marshall)
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Plate 14: Rotted length of north slope upper purlin
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Plate 15: Stave slot in south slope lower purlin
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Plate 16: Dovetail from a former use of the south slope lower purlin
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Plate 18: Windbraces
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Plate 19: Braces between upper purlins

Plate 20: Degraded Carpenter’s Marks on south slope
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Plate 22: Dormer windows
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